1965

Miles Lorraine Miller and Irvine B. Miller v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., Executor of the Last Will and Testament of Nettie Knudsen Miller, Deceased, and Viola Miller Carlson : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This was a suit to quiet title, whereby the plaintiffs and respondents sought a construction of a will to give plaintiffs a remainder interest or a beneficial interest under a trust, following a life interest in defendants' predecessor. The defendants and appellants counter-claimed, contending that an unqualified fee interest in defendants' predecessor was created by the will and confirmed by the decree of distribution.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiffs and defendants both moved for summary judgment. The court granted plaintiffs' motion, holding that plaintiffs were each owners of an undivided one-quarter interest in the real property in question and denied defendants' motion.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendants and appellants seek reversal of the judgment, with determination that the will created an unqualified fee simple interest, with neither trust limitations on the fee nor remainder interests in plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Miles E. Miller died May 29, 1956, leaving a will dated March 20, 1941 (R. 45, 46), which was admitted to probate in Salt Lake County. The entire probate file, No. 38583 is included in this record (R. 44).

Miles Miller's heirs were his widow, Nettie, and three children by a prior marriage, Lorraine and Irvine Miller, the plaintiffs and respondents, and Viola Carlson, defendant and appellant. Nettie was married to Miles in 1921 (R. 32). Zola Miller Smith, Miles' fourth child and Viola's twin, predeceased Miles, dying in 1954 (R. 23). All of Miles' children were under 12 years of age when Miles married Nettie (R. 32), and Nettie raised these children. The three surviving children were ages 44 to 49 in 1956.

Miles' will named Nettie as his executrix and made one donative provision, namely:

“SECOND. I give, devise and bequeath to my beloved wife, Nettie Knudsen Miller, all of my property, whether the same be real or personal or mixed, and I do this acknowledging all my children hereinafter named, and for the reason that I know that my beloved wife will, care for my children from the remainder of my estate, if there be any, share and share alike; Miles Lorraine Miller, son; Irvine Bagley Miller, son; Viola Miller Carlsen, daughter; Zola Miller Smith, daughter; all residents of the State of Utah” (R. 45).

Notice was given in the probate to the widow and the three surviving children, being plaintiffs Lorraine and Irvine Miller and defendant Viola Carlson. Miles’ estate consisted entirely of one parcel of real property, a four-plex in Salt Lake County, which was appraised at \$34,000. By Decree of Distribution dated September 27, 1956, Miles’ estate was distributed, the decree providing as follows:

“NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED as follows:

1. That in accordance with the Last Will and Testament of deceased the entire rest, residue and remainder of the estate of Miles Edward Miller, also known as Miles E. Miller, deceased, is distributed and set over to Nettie Knudsen Miller. Said property consists of the following:

Real property located at 2630 to 2650 South 2nd East, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and more particularly described as follows:

(legal description)

2. All property of deceased hereafter discovered or not now known be, and the same is hereby set over, distributed and transferred to Nettie Knudsen Miller" (R. 17).

Nettie improved and rented the four-plex and used all income for her own purposes to her death on May 17, 1964 (R. 33). Nettie left a will, naming defendant Walker Bank & Trust Company as Executor, and after making certain specific bequests, she gave, devised and bequeathed the entire remainder of her estate to her step-daughter, defendant Viola Carlson, who had cared for and nursed Nettie during the last three years of her life. Walker Bank & Trust Co. is presently acting as the executor of Nettie's estate and is managing the four-plex property in question (R. 9).

The complaint of plaintiffs Lorraine and Irvine Miller (R. 1-3) sought to quiet title to the four-plex property, alleging that Miles Miller had "devised his real estate to his widow for her use and maintenance during her lifetime, the remainder to be divided at her death among his four children, share and share alike" (R. 1), and that plaintiffs are each the owner of a one-fourth undivided interest in fee simple in said property and are entitled to joint possession with defendant Viola Carlson and the heirs of Zola Smith, deceased. Plaintiffs did not question the decree of distribution, but conceded that distribution was "in accordance with said last will and testament" (R. 2).

Defendants answered and counter-claimed, alleging that under the residual provision of Miles' will an unqualified fee simple interest was devised to Nettie and that the Decree of Distribution of September 27, 1956, in distributing the entire residue to Nettie made the residuary devise *res judicata*, final and impervious to plaintiffs' collateral attack (R. 8-11).

Defendants and plaintiffs filed motions for summary judgment which were heard on the basis of the affidavits of Viola Carlson (R. 23) and Grant H. Bagley (R. 32, 33), the Miles Miller probate file (R. 44) and the Miles Miller will (R. 45, 46).

At the hearing before Judge Ellett, counsel for plaintiffs argued that an implied trust for the benefit of Miles' children was created by the language of the will which followed the residuary provision. Defendants contended that Miles' will in giving the entire residue to Nettie created in her an unqualified fee simple interest, that the simple reference to the will in the decree of distribution showed only that Miles died testate, but did not allow reference back to the precatory words of the will to qualify the fee, and that after 8 years the probate decree was final and not subject to collateral attack.

The judgment (R. 37-39) denied defendants' motion, granted plaintiffs' motion and adjudged that plaintiffs were owners in fee simple title of an undivided one-quarter interest each in the four-plex property, and that plaintiffs, defendant Viola Carlson and the children of Zola Smith, deceased, *per stirpes* were entitled to possession of said real property as tenants in common.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE PROBATE DECREE OF DISTRIBUTION PROPERLY CONSTRUED THE WILL AND GAVE TO NETTIE MILLER AN UNQUALIFIED FEE SIMPLE INTEREST.

If any further construction of Miles Miller's will can be made at this late date, an examination of Paragraph Second (R. 45) clearly shows the work of a frugal draftsman, who combined three separate provisions in one paragraph, and in fact in one compound sentence. The first part is the entire residuary provision, stating, "I give, devise and bequeath to my beloved wife, Nettie Knudsen Miller, all of my property, whether the same be real or personal or mixed, . . ." Next is stated the necessary acknowledgment of Miles' children, as follows: "and I do this acknowledging all my children hereinafter named, . . ." And finally, there is the added expression of hope and confidence, "and for the reason that I know that my beloved wife will, care for my children from the remainder of my estate, if there be any, share and share alike: Miles Lorraine Miller, son; Irvine Bagley Miller, son; Viola Miller Carlsen, daughter; Zola Miller Smith, daughter; all residents of the State of Utah."

This court has clearly answered any question as to the proper construction of the Miller will by its decision in *In re Call's Estate*, 15 Utah 2d 1, 386 P.2d 125. The Call will devised the residue in one provision, then in subsequent language provided that the residue should go to other beneficiaries on the deaths of the first devisees. The court held that when the estate is given in

fee simple absolute in one clause, "the interest so devised cannot be taken away or diminished by any subsequent provisions of *doubtful import*, or by any inferences deductible therefrom repugnant to the estate given." (Emphasis added.) The court gave emphasis to the fact that the entire rest, residue and remainder of that testatrix' estate was given and devised, stating:

"Such language certainly expresses an intention of the testatrix that a fee simple title to her property be conveyed to the children upon her death. This paragraph of the will is controlling unless it *clearly appears* from other provisions that the testatrix intended to convey a lesser estate."

The court cited 74-1-36 UCA 1953, which provides:

"74-1-36. *Devise Conveys All of Testator's Interest.* Every devise of land in any will conveys all the estate of the devisor therein which he could lawfully devise, unless it clearly appears by the will that he intended to convey a less estate."

The court showed that it was not unmindful of 74-2-9 UCA 1953, which provides that all provisions of a will should be given effect, if possible, and also 74-2-1 UCA 1953, which generally provides that the testator's intention "must have effect as far as possible," and cited are *Schomp v. Brown*, 215 Ore. 714, 335 P.2d 847, *In re Shira's Estate*, 82 Ohio Law Abs. 307, 165 N.E.2d 60, and 4 *Bowe-Parker: Page on Wills*, p. 647.

Schomp v. Brown involved reciprocal husband and wife wills, with a provision for the residue to go to the surviving spouse. Following was a provision that the

survivor would be bound not to change the share which children would ultimately receive by the reciprocal will. The Oregon court held:

“It is a well-recognized rule that when an estate in an absolute fee is given in one clause of a will, as in Article IV here, the interest which the devisee then obtains cannot be taken away or diminished by any subsequent or general expressions of doubtful import, or by any inference deductible therefrom that may be repugnant to the estate given.”

Cited is 1 *Underhill on Law of Wills*, Sec. 358, and an Oregon statute which is almost identical in language to our 74-1-36 UCA 1953.

In re Shira's Estate distinguished situations where (1) remainders were clearly created, with or without powers of disposal or use in the first taker, and (2) the situation created by the Miller will, where there is a devise to A generally, with no power of disposal expressed or with an absolute power but followed by a devise to B of what shall remain undisposed of at A's death. In the latter situation, the Ohio court held that A takes a fee simple and that the attempted limitation over is impossible and void. The court said:

“The testator is, in effect, attempting to make a will for the first devisee, to take effect in case the first devisee fails to make one for himself, or otherwise disposes of the property. This the testator cannot do . . . A fee once given, cannot be cut down by other provisions of the will. A remainder cannot be engrafted on a fee.”

4 *Bowe-Parker: Page on Wills*, p. 647, states the rule:

“If words creating a fee are clear, it will not be cut down to a lesser estate by words which are vague or from which an intention to cut down the fee can be drawn only by inference.”

4 *Bowe-Parker: Page on Wills*, p. 652, states:

“Where testator devises realty to one, with suggestions as to its ultimate disposition by devisee, which are not mandatory, and which do not amount to a precatory trust, the devisee takes a fee simple.” Cited are *In re Hayward Estate*, 57 Ariz. 51, 110 P.2d 956, and *Schuster Estate*, 137 Cal. App. 125, 289 P.2d 847.

The *Hayward* case involved the following language after an absolute devise: “My wish is that my estate be kept within my descendants.” These were held to be precatory words only and were not testamentary, and the Arizona court quoted the general rule from 19 *Am. Jur.* 575, Sec. 120:

“Where there is in an absolute devise of property, a subsequent clause expressing a wish, desire or direction for its disposition after death of devisee or legatee will not defeat the devise or limit the estate in the property to a right to possession or use during the life of the devisee, but rather the absolute devise stands and the other clause is to be regarded as presenting precatory language.”

In the *Schuster* case, the testator gave the residue to the beneficiary with the provision that he should “distribute as he deems wisest.” This bequest was held not

to create a trust or to limit the outright and absolute character of the bequest.

In *Newhall v. McGill*, 69 Ariz. 259, 212 P.2d 764, the court held that where the testator named his sister as executrix and devised property to her "to be cared for and disposed of according to my personal directions to her," the quoted words were merely precatory, that the devise was in fee and not in trust, and that mere precatory words will not create a trust.

In *re Ferdun's Estate*, 91 Cal. App. 622, 205 P.2d 456, involved a will with the following language: "Everything I own to John. Keep the vinyard as long as you live and at the time of your death, you leave it to Ernest." The court held that this did not create a trust; that there must be imperative language — not wishes, hopes or precatory words.

The general rule is stated in 96 *C.J.S.* 231, Sec. 802, as follows: "Broadly speaking, an estate or interest devised or bequeathed by will is neither enlarged nor reduced by subsequent language unless there is a clearly expressed intent to do so." Cited is *Bills v. Bills*, 77 Iowa 179, 45 N.W. 748, as the leading case, with the rule there restated:

"When there is an absolute or unlimited devise or bequest of property, a subsequent clause expressing a wish, desire or direction for its disposition after the death of the devisee or legatee, will not defeat the devise or bequest, nor limit the estate or interest in the property to the right to possession and use during the life of the de-

visee or legatee. The absolute devise or bequest stands, and the other clause must be regarded as presenting precatory language. The will must be interpreted to invest in the devisee or legatee the fee simple title of the land, and the absolute property in the subject of the bequest."

The language of the Miles Miller residuary bequest and devise was clear in giving all interest of the testator to his wife. It was followed by the statement that the testator did have four named children and that the devise was made acknowledging that fact. If any emphasis of the fact of a devise of an absolute fee interest was necessary, the testator gave such by those added words.

The language which follows the devise at best expresses Miles' wish or hope. He said: "*I know that my beloved wife will care for my children from the remainder of my estate, if there be any, share and share alike...*" Each of the italicized words or phrases actually creates an ambiguity from which could be taken different meanings, if any one of those words or phrases required an exact construction.

"*I know*" certainly indicates a wish, feeling of confidence, desire or direction, but not a mandate, and certainly nothing to create a remainder or a beneficial interest under a trust. "*Will care for*" normally means to support, maintain or physically take care of someone on a current day to day basis. See 41 *Words and Phrases* 17. In *Hewey v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.*, 100 Me. 523, 62 Atl. 600, "care" was defined as "responsibility or oversight, watchful regard and attention." In *Ballenger v.*

Ballenger, 208 Ala. 147, 94 So. 127, "take care of" was construed to mean "to support, maintain, feed and clothe look after, attention in sickness." To give the phrase "*will care for*" any other meaning in the vernacular would only compound the confusion and emphasize the uncertainty of all of the language following the devise of the fee.

A will speaks as of, or takes effect only upon the death of the testator; however, for purposes of testamentary interpretation the will must be considered with reference to the circumstances existing at the time of execution. 57 *Am. Jur.* 795, Sec. 1209. "*From the remainder of my estate, if there be any,*" can only mean that Miles had in mind all of his estate in 1941 and including property owned by him then but not in 1956 at his death, and not just the one parcel of real property now in question. This again shows an expression of hope and wish. "*Share and share alike*" refers to the four of Miles' children alive in 1941, all of whom were then adults (R. 23). Zola Smith died in 1954, predeceasing Miles by two years. No provision is made for Zola's children. This phrase and its legal application can add only more uncertainty as to the wishful thinking of the testator and the legal effect of that language, if it should be considered as a qualification of a fee interest previously given to Nettie.

The respondents indicated in their complaint that they assumed that a life estate was given to Nettie with remainder interests in the children (R. 1, 2). At the hearing before the District Court the respondents argued that the will created an implied trust with Nettie being

the trustee. Respondents' failure to consistently hold to one theory for construction of these words is itself proof of the uncertainty and ambiguity of the language.

Before Judge Ellett the respondents argued for a construction of an implied trust, relying on *In re Dewey's Estate*, 45 Utah 98, 143 P. 124, in arriving at Miles' intent. The *Dewey* case involved a direct appeal from a contest in probate regarding distribution. In the *Dewey* will the testator gave clear instruction to one Tuttle to distribute and sprinkle the residue among certain persons, and it provided a specific separate bequest for Tuttle, which gave further reason for the court's finding of a trust in the residue. There was no ambiguity and on the contrary a mandate for distribution.

The instant judgment (R. 37-39) would seem to follow the theory of a life estate with remainders, as it gives Miles' deceased daughter's children remainder interests.

The language following the clear devise of a fee simple absolute expressed only Miles' general wishes. It is ambiguous and uncertain. It cannot subtract from the fee clearly devised by the prior and separate provision. The intention of the testator, expressed in 1941, was patently a devise in fee simple absolute, followed by wishes and sentiments. No construction of Miles' will should now be allowed which would trade a certainty for a doubt.

POINT II.

THE DECREE OF DISTRIBUTION WAS COMPLETE, CERTAIN, UNAMBIGUOUS AND FINAL AND ALLOWED NO REFERENCE BACK TO THE WILL FOR INTERPRETATION.

The respondents seem to avoid considering their present suit to quiet title as any attack on the Decree of Distribution entered September 27, 1956. No fraud, lack of jurisdiction, or other matter going to the validity of the decree was alleged, and in fact, respondents alleged in Paragraph 4 of their complaint that distribution in Miles' estate was made "in accordance with the will" (R. 2). They argued before Judge Ellett that this phrase in the decree of distribution was incorporation by reference of the will into the decree.

A very general rule is set out at 34 *C.J.S.* 453, Sec. 529(a), that a decree of distribution is subject to interpretation when its language is vague, uncertain or ambiguous; however,

"An absolute and unequivocal final decree of distribution is not made ambiguous by a recital that the distribution is according to the will, and where the final decree of distribution necessarily construes the will and is not ambiguous or made subject to the will, the will cannot be resorted to in order to modify or affect it."

In re Miller's Estate, 132 Minn. 316, 156 N.W. 349, cited by *C.J.S.*, held:

"In the case of the estate of a testate the final decree of distribution of the probate court necessarily construes the will in distributing the estate, and, unless made subject to the provisions of the will or unless ambiguous or uncertain on its face,

the will may not be resorted to for the purpose of modifying or affecting the decree.

“A final decree of distribution which in absolute and unequivocal terms has assigned the whole estate to one person is not affected with uncertainty or ambiguity by a recital that the distribution is in accordance with the terms of the will.”

The California court in *In re Wallace's Estate*, 98 Cal. App. 285, 219 P.2d 910, stated:

“A plain and unambiguous provision in the decree of distribution, once the decree has become final, cannot under the doctrine of *res judicata*, be impaired or contradicted by a reference to the will, even if incorporated in the decree by way of recital.”

See also *Shipley v. Jordan*, 206 Cal. 439, 274 P. 745.

The rule appears to be clear that the decree of distribution, where it is clear and unequivocal, is final and may not be impeached by reference back to the will, even if the decree is erroneous, except on appeal. *In re Ryan's Estate*, 96 Cal. App. 2d 787, 216 P.2d 497; *In re Haney's Estate*, 174 Cal. App. 2d 1, 344 P.2d 16; *In re Loring's Estate*, 29 Cal.2d 423, 175 P.2d 524.

In *In re Ewer's Estate*, 170 Cal. 660, 171 P. 683, reference in the decree of distribution was made to the will by the language “in accordance with the last will,” and the court held the decree to be impervious to attack, the decree to prevail over the will, and the quoted language not to make any possible incorporation by reference to allow further construction of the will.

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