1965

Miles Lorraine Miller and Irvine B. Miller v. Walker Bank & Trust Co., Executor of the Last Will and Testament of Nettie Knudsen Miller, Deceased, and Viola Miller Carlson : Brief of Respondent

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant's statement of facts so far as it relates to circumstances surrounding the execution of the will is correct, but it is not complete.

At the same time the will under consideration was executed, Nettie Knudsen Miller, the testator's wife, made and executed her own last will and testament in which she devised and bequeathed all of her property to her husband, Miles E. Miller. The two wills bear the same date, were obviously written on the same typewriter

and are witnessed by the same individuals. She revoked this will after her husband's death.

A few years prior to the execution of these wills, Miles conveyed to Nettie the home in which he and his first wife had lived and in which he and Nettie were then living.

The four-plex apartment was constructed by Miles with the aid of his eldest son. Nettie used the income from this property for her support and maintenance, but she did not attempt to sell or dispose of it in her lifetime. It is this property which the plaintiffs claim to have an undivided interest in and title to.

The decree of final distribution in the matter of the estate of Miles E. Miller, deceased, was made and entered without notice of any kind to anyone. Neither did any one interested in the estate other than the petitioner waive notice of hearing upon the petition. It is purely an ex parte decree and is without any binding force or effect upon anyone except Nettie.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE WILL CREATED AN IMPLIED TRUST
IN FAVOR OF THE TESTATOR'S CHILDREN
WITH RESPECT TO ANY PROPERTY
NOT CONSUMED OR DISPOSED OF BY
HIS WIDOW.

In the appendix to this brief we have set forth a copy of the will which forms the subject matter of the

present litigation. We contend that the devise to Nettie "of all my property" is not absolute but is restricted to the extent that any of such property which she did not consume or dispose of in her lifetime was to be divided equally between the four children named. Such was the intention of the testator as expressed in the will and the law implies a trust to give effect to that intention. As stated in 1 Perry on Trusts and Trustees (6th Ed.) Sec. 112 approved and applied by this court in *Re Dewey's Estate*, 45 U. 98, 143 Pac. 124 at 126.

"Implied trusts are those that arise when trusts are not directly or expressly declared in terms, but the courts, from the whole transaction and the words used, imply or infer that it was the intention of the parties to create a trust. Courts seek for the intention of the parties, however informal or obscure the language may be; and, if a trust can fairly be implied from the language used as the intention of the parties, the intention will be executed through the medium of a trust."

The statute directs that, "A will is to be construed according to the intention of the testator. Where his intention cannot have effect to its full extent, it must have effect as far as possible." Section 74-2-1 U.C.A. 1953. This is the cardinal rule of construction of wills and is the one to which the others must yield. *Johnson's Estate*, 64 Utah 114, 228 Pacific 748. Of course the intention must be ascertained from the language of the will, but the words must be read in the light of the circumstances under which they were written. Section 74-2-2.

A subordinate rule of construction, but one which is specifically applicable in this case is the one which requires that, "The words of a will are to receive an interpretation which will give to every expression some effect rather than one which will render any of the expressions inoperative." Section 74-2-9.

With these rules in mind we proceed to examine the will in controversy.

As appellant says the testator was frugal in the use of language disposing of his property. This is not without significance as we shall point out later. All of his property is disposed of in a single sentence. In the first few words he devises to Nettie all of his property. If he had stopped at this point, there would be no question but that the devise to Nettie would be absolute. But he did not stop there. He did not even end the sentence. Without pausing, he proceeded to qualify the devise to Nettie. He qualified it by naming his children as beneficiaries and segregating the "remainder of my estate" from all of his property. He says in effect that he gives all of his property to Nettie because he knows she will divide among his children any of his property which she does not use or dispose of.

The words, "I know she will care for my children," obviously do not mean he knows she would support and maintain his children. When the will was drawn, all of the children were married and supporting themselves. Furthermore, Nettie could not support his children out of property which remained undisposed of at the time

of her death. The words, "care for my children," obviously mean to give to my children or divide among my children. The words, "share and share alike," make certain that some property is to be divided among the children. The phrase "remainder of my estate, if there be any," refers to any of the testator's property which Nettie did not use or dispose of in her lifetime. Since the testator indicates that the reason he gave all of his property to Nettie was that he knew she would divide equally among his children any of it that she did not consume in her lifetime, the conclusion is irresistible that the devise to Nettie is qualified to the extent that she was prohibited from disposing of any of the property after her death. It is this qualification of the devise to Nettie that creates the implied trust in favor of the children.

The will involved in *Re Dewey's Estate*, cited above, devised all of the rest, residue and remainder of the testator's property of every kind and nature whatsoever to Hubbard Tuttle. This apparently absolute devise was followed by a provision which stated that it was the testator's desire that Tuttle distribute the remainder among the testator's nephews and nieces and to such of them and in such proportions as Tuttle should deem just and proper, his decision upon such matters to be final. This court properly invoked the statutory instruction that all of the language of the will must be given effect, if possible, and decided that Tuttle held the remainder of the testator's estate in trust for his nieces and nephews. We quote from this opinion:

"It is quite true that if we stop at the end of the first sentence of the bequest wherein the

residue of the property is disposed of, the language is sufficient to pass the whole residue to the trustee, but we cannot stop at that point for the reason that the testatrix did not do so. She proceeded further, and by what she said she created a trust. Again, as we have already pointed out, if she did not intend to create a trust, she would not have made the bequest of the residue of her property in the form it was made, but would have given the trustee all the residue in the preceding paragraph of the will."

The only difficulty there can be in ascertaining the testator's intention in this case arises out of his use of the word "know." Had he used the word "request," "desire," or "wish" our search for his intention would be ended. It is our contention that the word "know" is much less precatory than either of the suggested terms and that it is equivalent to a command to Nettie prohibiting her from diverting any property from the children by a testamentary disposition. The authorities are uniform in holding as this court did in *Re Dewey's Estate*, *Supra* that precatory language will be construed as mandatory if the testator intended to give that effect to it.

In *Colton vs. Colton*, 127 U.S. 30, 8 S. Ct. 1164, 32 L.Ed. 138, David Colton gave to his wife all of his estate, real and personal, of which he died seized or possessed or entitled to, but, "I recommend to her the care and protection of my mother and sister and request her to make such gift and provision for them as in her judgment will be best." The testator's sister sued the wife to require her to make provision for the sister out of the estate. The Supreme Court of the United States held

that the will created a trust for the benefit of the testator's sister. It cited numerous authorities and quoted with approval from *Briggs v. Penny*, 3 Macn. & Gord. 546, 554.

“‘I conceive the rule of construction to be that words accompanying a gift or bequest expressive of confidence, a belief, or desire, or hope that a particular application will be made of such bequest, will be deemed to import a trust upon these conditions; first, that they are so used as to exclude all option or discretion in the party who is to act as to his acting according to them or not; secondly, the subject must be certain; and, thirdly, the objects expressed must not be too vague or indefinite to be enforced.’ The most recent declarations of the English courts of equity do not modify this statement of the law.”

In *Warner vs. Bates*, 98 Mass. 274, the testatrix's will gave her husband a life estate in the entire income from her property “in the full confidence” that he will upon my decease, as he has heretofore done, continue to give and afford my children such support as either of them may stand in need of. The children referred to were not the children of the husband. One of them became seriously in need of support and filed a bill in equity against the husband to require him to furnish that support out of the income from the testatrix's property. The court ordered him to pay a monthly sum to the needy child.

The opinion noted that it was the universal rule that words of entreaty, recommendation or wish addressed to a legatee will create a trust.

“If the objects of the supposed trust are certain and definite; if the property to which it is to attach is clearly pointed out; if the relations and situation of the testator and the supposed cestuis que trust are such as to indicate a strong interest and motive on the part of the testator in making them partners of his bounty; and above all, if the recommendatory or precatory clause is so expressed as to warrant the inference that it was designed to be peremptory on the donee; the just and reasonable interpretation is, that a trust is created, which is obligatory and can be enforced in equity as against the trustee by those in whose behalf the beneficial use of the gift was intended.”

Both the will and the surrounding circumstances now under consideration are closely analogous to those in *Merrill vs. Pardun*, 125 Neb. 701, 251 Northwestern 836. The testator gave to his wife “all of the residue and remainder of my property of whatever kind and where-soever situated to be hers absolutely,” but in the following sentence stated, “It is my request, however,” that any of said property remaining at the death of his wife should go to his daughter and in case of her death then to her children, share and share alike. All of the property was distributed to the widow, but she had on hand at the time of her death some \$8,000.00. The daughter, Margaret, brought suit to have this \$8,000.00 impressed with a trust for her benefit. The Supreme Court of Nebraska held that the daughter was entitled to this fund. In the course of a well considered opinion, it said:

“In determining what the testator meant by the word “request,” we have to take into consider-

ation the situation of the parties at the time. The testator in this case was married a second time. He had no children of the second marriage, but he had one daughter by a former marriage. He desired to provide for his wife during her lifetime, and the necessary inference would be taken that he then desired that his property go to his blood relations. His daughter being his nearest of kin, he therefore made this bequest to his wife, and then requested that so much thereof as remained at her death should be given to his daughter. The use of the word "request" in a disposition by will limiting an apparently absolute bequest to a widow does not imply that it is optional, discretionary or recommendatory, particularly when the context of the will does not demonstrate an alternative choice or option in the pursuit of a recommendation or an exercise of discretion, but if it is definite as to a person and quantum of estate, if there was no clear discretion or choice, if the person benefited is a natural object of the testator's bounty, and if the person affected by the limitation is in close or fiduciary relation to the testator as a widow, the use of the word "request" imports, although in courteous and polite form, a command or direction, imperative and dispositive in legal effect. It therefore is a bequest to his daughter, Mildred I. Merrill, or all property remaining on the death of his said wife, to be hers absolutely."

In *Tucker vs. Myers*, 151 Neb. 359, 37 N.W. 2d, 585; the testator after making an absolute and unqualified devise to his wife stated that it was his desire that in the event she left no heirs of her body, that she make a will bequeathing the property "I leave her to my brothers and sisters to be distributed equally among those living at the time of her death." The Court said:

“(6) The general rule in this state is that, in construing a will, where the will in one clause makes an apparently absolute bequest of property, but a subsequent clause makes a further bequest of the remainder after the death of the legatee taking under the first clause, the two clauses are to be construed together to ascertain the true character of the estate in fact granted by the first clause; and in such case, contrary to the ancient rule at common law, the second clause is effective and operates to define and limit the estate granted by the first as a life estate with power of disposition, and the second is effective and operative to grant an estate in remainder in the unused, unexpended, or undisposed property granted for life by the first.”

In another case in which the testator gave, devised and bequeathed to his wife all of his property, both real, personal and mixed of whatever kind and nature soever and wherever located, but proceeded to state that if at the time of his wife's death there should be any property left, “it is my request that it be divided between my two children, George and Mable, to share and share alike,” the court did not have any problem in ascertaining the testator's intention to be that these two children should share equally in any property that the wife had not consumed. It said:

“(5-7) In determining what the testator meant by the word “request,” account should be taken of the relative situation of the parties, the ties of affection subsisting between them, and the motives which would naturally influence the mind of the testator, as well as the existence of a moral duty on his part toward the party who will benefit from compliance with his desires

and recommendations. *Morrison v. Tyler*, 266 Ill. 308 107 N.E. 602; *Abrahams v. Sanders*, 274 Ill. 452, 113 N.E. 737. The fact that, in the event a trust is declared, the person who will be benefited is a natural object of the testator's bounty, is entitled to strong consideration in determining whether the word "request" or "desire" in a will imports a command. *Cumming v. Pendleton*, 112 Conn. 569, 153 A. 175; *Merrill v. Pardun*, 125 Neb. 701, 251 N.W. 834. A construction which conforms, as far as possible, to the Statute of Descent (Ill. Rev. Stat. 1939, c. 39) is to be preferred. *Dahmer v. Wensler*, 350 Ill. 23, 182 N.E. 799, 94 A.L.R. 1; *Smith v. Garber*, 286 Ill. 67, 121 N.E. 173. Under these principles, it was held in the *Conneticut* case, *supra*, that the word "desire," and in the *Nebraska* case, *supra*, that the word "request," in a subsequent clause after a preceeding absolute devise, were intended to be words of command.

"Another circumstance frequently held to indicate that precatory expressions were intended to be mandatory is that the person to whom they were addressed is the spouse of the testator, to whom it is not to be expected that commands would be expressed in such forcible language as between strangers."

See *Keizer vs. Jensen*, 373 Ill. 184, 25 N.E. 2d 819,

The English authorities are in accord with the view that precatory language in a will may be construed as mandatory if it appears that the testator intended to restrict or qualify what would otherwise be an absolute bequest or devise.

In *Wilson vs. Mayor*, 11 Ves. Jun. 205, 32 Eng. Reprint 1066, the testator devised real property to his

wife "upon full trust and confidence" that at her death she would make proper distribution to his children; held that upon the death of the wife the title vested in the children.

In *Massey vs. Sherman*, 27 Eng. Reprint 335, a devise to the wife in fee with "no doubt but that my wife will dispose of the same to and amongst my children as she shall please" was held to create a trust in favor of the children of the property remaining at the death of the wife.

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